04

	IN THE SUPP	REME COURT OF FLORIDA	FILED SID J. WHITE
		. (/	FEB 11 1998
		U	CLERK, SUPREME COURT
JOHN D. FERRY,)		— <u>y</u>
· · · · · · · · · · · · · · · ·)		Strief Departy Clerk
Petitioner,)		
)		
vs.)	CASE NO.: 92,135	
)		
STATE OF FLORIDA,)		
)		
Appellee.)		
)		

AMENDED PETITIONER'S BRIEF ON THE MERITS

JAMES B. GIBSON PUBLIC DEFENDER SEVENTH JUDICIAL CIRCUIT

ROSEMARIE FARRELL ASSISTANT PUBLIC DEFENDER FLORIDA BAR NO. 0101907 112 Orange Avenue, Suite A Daytona Beach, FL 32114 (904) 252-3367

COUNSEL FOR PETITIONER

STATEMENT OF THE CASE AND FACTS

After having been observed with an open container containing alcohol on Christmas Day, 1996, the Petitioner, John D. Ferry, was arrested and charged with carrying a concealed firearm. (R II, 18) The unloaded .38 caliber firearm was in the Petitioner's right hand pants pocket, while the ammunition for the firearm was in Petitioner's left hand pants pocket. (R III, 22-23) On January 13, 1997, an information was filed charging the Petitioner with carrying a concealed weapon, in violation of Florida Statute §790.01(2), and possession of a firearm by a convicted felon, in violation of Florida Statute §790.23, based upon Ferry's felony conviction in December, 1991 for possession of cocaine. (R III, 26)

On March 27, 1997, Judge Reginald K. Whitehead heard Petitioner's motions to amend his scoresheet by removal of the eighteen enhancement points assessed for possession of a firearm, pursuant to Fla. R. Crim. P. 3.703(d)(19), and to withdraw and re-enter his plea,

prior to sentencing. (R I, 9-20; R II, 1-8; R III, 32-33) The Petitioner's motion to correct his scoresheet was denied, and his right to appeal that ruling was expressly reserved by his "no contest" plea to count two of the charges, possession of a firearm by a convicted felon. (R I, 6-7; R II, 14, 19-20) The state nolle prossed the first count, carrying a concealed weapon. (R II, 16; R III, 32, 44) The Petitioner was adjudicated guilty, and sentenced to twenty-four months in the Department of Corrections with credit for time served. (R II, 20; R III, 34, 39, 46-47) On appeal to the Fifth District Court of Appeal, the Petitioner argued that his statusbased, firearm possession offense was not among the violent crimes contemplated by Florida Statute Section 7.75.087 (2) (1995)-- either expressly, or by omission. The State argued that the Fifth District Court of Appeal should continue to follow its earlier decisions on the issue. In a decision issued on November 21, 1997, the Fifth District certified its conflict with the Fourth District Court of Appeal on the issue of whether the trial court erred in assessing enhancement points for "possession of a firearm during the commission of a crime pursuant to Florida Rule of Criminal Procedure 3.703(d)(10) [sic]¹ where firearm possession is the gravamen of the only charged offense." Ferry v. State, 701 So.2d 660 (Fla.5th DCA 1997) (Appendix A). See also, Smith v. State, 683 So.2d 577 (Fla. 5th DCA 1996), (Appendix B); and also Galloway v. State, 680 So.2d 616 (Fla. 4th DCA 1996) (Appendix C). A timely notice to invoke this Court's discretionary jurisdiction was filed in the Fifth District Court of Appeal on December 19, 1997. On January 9, 1998 this Honorable Court issued its order postponing jurisdiction and scheduling briefing. This appeal follows.

¹The opinion mistakenly references paragraph (10) instead of paragraph (19) of Fla. R. Crim. P. 3.703 (d).

SUMMARY OF ARGUMENT

The Fifth District Court of Appeal has now joined the Second and Fourth District Courts of Appeal in certifying conflict on the issue of firearm sentencing enhancement of possessory firearm offenses. A conflict between the Fourth District Court of Appeal and the Second and Fifth District Courts of Appeal regarding applicability of firearm enhancement points to cases where firearm possession is unrelated to the commission of any additional substantive offense, had recently been certified to the Florida Supreme Court by both the Second (accord) and Fourth (contra) District Courts of Appeal.

The Petitioner argues that the better view is that propounded in <u>Galloway</u>, where, in a case with facts similar to the instant case, firearm enhancement points were ruled as inapplicable when the sole charged crime was firearm possession. 680 So.2d 616 (Fla. 4th DCA 1996). Assessment of enhancement points for the possession of a firearm during commission, or the attempt to commit a crime presumes some other crime beyond the mere possessory act, itself. Otherwise, the rationale of the legislature per <u>Davidson</u>, is not satisfied, in that the thing being deterred, i.e., *the crime* being made more dangerous, is not present. 666 So. 2d 941 (Fla. 2d DCA 1995) The error of the contrary view is evident, where, as here, the addition of firearm enhancement points to points assessed for the firearm possession, a status offense, meant the difference between a 24 month prison sentence and a non-prison sentence.

ARGUMENT

THE FIFTH DISTRICT COURT OF APPEAL ERRED IN AFFIRMING THE ENHANCEMENT OF PETITIONER'S SENTENCE BY THE ADDITION OF EIGHTEEN POINTS FOR FIREARM POSSESSION PURSUANT TO FLA. R. CRIM. P.3.703 (d) (19), WHERE THE SOLE CRIME WAS POSSESSION OF A FIREARM BY A CONVICTED FELON.

Acknowledging Florida appellate authority on both sides of the issue of sentencing enhancement of certain crimes under various circumstances based upon firearm possession, the Petitioner submits that where the possessory offense itself is the gravamen of the crime, statutory sentencing enhancement is contrary to the legislative intent of the sentencing provisions. Where, as here, a firearm possessory offense is already statutorily enhanced from a third to a second degree felony because of a defendant's previous convicted felon status, further enhancement of punishment by characterizing the possession as "the use of a firearm in the commission of" a felony, is arguably also an excessive punishment for a status-based possessory offense. Fla. Stat. §§ 790.01 (2), 790.23 (1)(a), (2)(1996).

Florida Rule of Criminal Procedure 3.703(d)(19)² provides for the enhancement of sentences for crimes committed or attempted while armed:

Possession of a firearm, semiautomatic firearm, or a machine gun during the commission or attempt to commit a crime will result in additional sentence points. Eighteen sentence points are assessed if the offender is convicted of committing or attempting to commit any felony other than those enumerated in subsection 775.087(2) while having in his or her possession a firearm as defined in subsection 790.001(6)...

²The number of this rule was changed in the 1996 amendments to the criminal procedure rules, but language remains unchanged from the former rule 3.702(d)(12).

<u>Id.</u> The Petitioner submits that the possession of a firearm by a convicted felon, is not encompassed within the felonies *committed* or *attempted* while possessing a firearm, contemplated by the legislature in passage of the Rule.

At least two views of the legislature's intended application of this provision to cases where firearm possession is the gravamen of the charged offense, have evolved in the district courts of appeal. The facts of this case, wherein the Petitioner's sole crime consisted of the firearm possession, distinguish it from all but the two cases certified as being in conflict, Smith v. State, 683 So. 2d 577 (Fla. 5th DCA 1996), and Galloway v. State, 680 So. 2d 616 (Fla. 4th DCA 1996).

The Smith case represented a broadening of the rule in Gardner v. State, 661

So. 2d 1274 (Fla. 5th DCA 1995). Smith, supra at 579. In Gardner, the Fifth District Court found that, with the accompanying felonies of trafficking in cocaine and possession of marijuana with intent to sell, a simultaneous conviction of carrying a concealed firearm did not, of itself, prevent the scoring of the firearm enhancement points on the same scoresheet. Building upon that result, the Smith court found that possession of a firearm by a convicted felon, as the sole predicate offense, supported assessment of the additional points. The Smith Court reasoned that possession of a firearm by a convicted felon, itself a felony not enumerated within the crimes excepted by Fla. Stat. Section 775.087 (2), justified the enhancement contemplated by the legislature. Id. Here, the Petitioner respectfully submits that the resulting proposition of law, as amplified by the facts of his case makes no logical, or legal sense. That the possession of a firearm would enhance the punishment meted out for possession of a firearm, particularly where the previous felony status of a defendant has

already reaped the steeper felony conviction, is a non sequitur to the practice of sentencing enhancement.

The Petitioner argues that the better view is reflected by Galloway v. State, supra at 616. There, the Fourth District Court of Appeal, reversed the sentence of an Appellant charged similarly to Appellant in the instant case, stating that it "construe[d] rule 3.702(d)(12) as inapplicable to convictions [for carrying a concealed weapon and possession of a firearm by a convicted felon] when unrelated to the commission of any additional substantive offense." Galloway, supra at 617. In State v. Walton, the Fourth District Court of Appeal affirmed a lower court sentence, applying their Galloway holding to the case of an Appellee who had pled "no contest" to carrying a concealed weapon, had been placed upon eighteen months probation, but for whom the twenty-five additional points corresponding to the provision of the same rule concerning semiautomatic weapons, had not been added. 693 So. 2d 135 (Fla. 4th DCA 1997).

In <u>Walton</u>, the Fourth District Court of Appeal certified its conflict both with the Second District Court of Appeal, based upon the ruling in <u>State v. Davidson</u>, and with the Fifth District Court based upon rulings in <u>Gardner v. State</u>, and <u>Smith v. State</u>. <u>Supra</u>. In <u>White v. State</u>, 689 So. 2d 371 (Fla. 2d DCA 1997), the Second District Court of Appeal certified its conflict with the Fourth District Court of Appeal in <u>Galloway</u>. <u>Supra</u>. Although factually distinguishable from the instant case in that other crimes were involved, another Fifth District Court of Appeal case, <u>State v. Scott</u>, 692 So.2d 234 (Fla. 5th DCA 1997) is presently pending Supreme Court review in Case No. 90,558.

Authority on both sides of this issue, across the district courts of appeal,

steadfastly maintains that whatever else it might be, sentencing enhancement for firearm possession, where the gravamen is firearm possession is not "double jeopardy." See Galloway v. State, 680 So. 2d 616 (Fla. 4th DCA 1996) (in holding that Fla. R. Crim. P. 3.702(d)(12), was inapplicable to convictions for carrying a concealed weapon and possession of a firearm by a convicted felon, the Fourth District Court of Appeal still "do[es] not disagree with the conclusion in Davidson and Gardner that assessing the additional scoresheet points does not offend principles of double jeopardy"). The Petitioner argues that, be that as it may, enhancement of the sentence for a firearm possession offense, by stacking extra points for firearm possession upon points for the already enhanced felony crime of firearm possession, offends all principles of fairness, toward no known public policy end. The result is a penalty disproportionate to the already enhanced felony offense of possession of a firearm by an individual, not otherwise engaged in criminal activity, based exclusively upon his prior felony offender status.

The meaning of Fla. R. Crim. Pro. 3.703(d)(19) seems plain enough, that the enhancement points will be added based upon the "possession of a firearm...during the commission or attempt to commit a crime." The "possession" is separable from the "commission" or "attempt." The term "enhancement" itself, is defined in *The American Heritage Dictionary of the English Language* as "to make greater, as in value, beauty, or reputation;...". (3d ed., 1992) The sense of this meaning depends upon the pre-existence of a separate value or property which is made greater, or enhanced by something else. Absent any other criminal offense or attempted criminal offense, the Petitioner maintains that the legislature never intended that firearm possession would enhance itself.

The Petitioner respectfully urges this Honorable Court to consider the arguments and rulings which support what appears to be the legislature's intended construction of the rule in question, as adopted by the Fourth District Court of Appeal in Galloway.

Petitioner asks that the enhanced sentence which resulted in imposition of a prison sentence in his case, be reversed and remanded with instructions to delete the eighteen enhancement points.

CONCLUSION

Based upon the arguments presented and the authorities cited, the undersigned Counsel requests that this Honorable Court quash the decision of the Fifth District Court of Appeals, and reverse and remand for re-sentencing under an amended scoresheet.