WELED SOLVENIE

IN THE SUPREME COURT OF FLORIDA

FEB 25 19981

JOHN D. FERRY,

Petitioner,

v.

CASE NO. 92,135 5DCA CASE NO. 97-1136

STATE OF FLORIDA,

Respondent.

ON DISCRETIONARY REVIEW FROM THE FIFTH DISTRICT COURT OF APPEAL

RESPONDENT'S BRIEF ON THE MERITS

ROBERT A. BUTTERWORTH ATTORNEY GENERAL

ROBIN A. COMPTON
ASSISTANT ATTORNEY GENERAL
Fla. Bar #846864
444 Seabreeze Boulevard
5th Floor
Daytona Beach, FL 32118
(904) 238-4990

COUNSEL FOR RESPONDENT

SUMMARY OF THE ARGUMENT

The district court properly concluded that firearm points were correctly scored. Under the clear, unambiguous language of the guidelines statute, firearm points must be assessed where the defendant possessed a firearm during the commission of his offense. There is no statutory exception to this rule for offenses in which the possession of a firearm is an inherent component, and this Court should not create such an exception in the face of the clear language of the statute.

ARGUMENT

POINT ON APPEAL

THE DISTRICT COURT PROPERLY CONCLUDED THAT FIREARM POINTS WERE PROPERLY SCORED.

Petitioner argues that the district court erred in concluding that firearm points were properly scored in the instant case. Ferry v. State, 701 So.2d 660 (Fla. 5th DCA 1997). It is the State's position that the district court's decision should be approved.

Petitioner entered into a negotiated plea agreement pleading nolo contendere to possession of a firearm by a convicted felon. Petitioner specifically reserved the right to appeal the assessment of the 18 points for possession of the firearm which is the sole issue before this Court. Petitioner maintains that there is no reasonable basis for enhancement where his only crime was possession of a firearm by a convicted felon because no crime that he committed was made more dangerous by the use of a gun.

Under the sentencing guidelines, felony offenses are listed in an "Offense Severity Ranking Chart." §921.0012, Fla. Stat. (1995). Offenses range from level 1 (the least severe) to level 10 (the most severe), according to the Legislature's determination of the severity of the offense and the harm or potential harm to the public. See, Fla.R.Crim.P. 3.703(c). The new guidelines supersede prior case law conflicting with the principles and provisions of the new statute and rule. Fla.R.Crim.P. 3.703(b).

Under the sentencing guidelines, Petitioner's crime is

categorized as a level 5 offense, and assigned points according to the category. §921.0014(1), Fla. Stat. (1995). In addition to points for the offense level, the guidelines call for extra points to be scored if certain circumstances apply to the crime. For example, four extra points are scored if the defendant has committed a "legal status violation"; six extra points are scored for each violation of a release program; and most relevant to the case at bar, 18 extra points are scored if the defendant had a firearm in his possession at the time of the offense. Id. The district court held that the 18 firearm points were properly scored in this case, and it is these points which are the subject of this appeal.

Petitioner's argument that the scoring is improper where the possession of a firearm charge is the only crime charged ignores the clear, unambiguous language of the statute. Scoring for firearms is explained in the statute as follows:

Possession of a firearm or destructive device: If the offender is convicted of committing or attempting to commit any felony other than those enumerated in s. 775.087(2) while having in his possession a firearm as defined in s. 790.001(6), an additional 18 sentence points are added to the offender's subtotal sentence points.

§921.0014(1), Fla. Stat. See also, Fla.R.Crim.P. 3.703(d)(19).

Thus, under the clear language of the statute, firearm points must be added to the scoresheet of any offender who possesses a firearm during the commission of his offense, unless that offense already carries a three-year mandatory minimum term for the

firearm, as provided in section 775.087(2). Possession of a firearm by a convicted felon is not an enumerated offense in that statute. Accordingly, Ferry's offense does not fall under the statutory exception, and firearm points were properly scored under the plain language of the statute.

Clearly, the Legislature had the knowledge and ability to create an exception to the firearm points requirement, as it did in the case of the mandatory minimum offenses. The Legislature chose not to create a second scoring exception for crimes in which possession of a firearm is an essential element, and this Court should not second-guess this legislative determination or attempt to create such an exception through case law.

The creation of an inherent element exception to the scoring of firearm points is not required by the Double Jeopardy Clause. Admittedly, the end result of the Legislature's chosen scoring structure is that offenses with possession of a firearm as an essential element will always end up scoring more than just their "level" points. That points are scored on more than one line of the scoresheet, however, does not demonstrate a double jeopardy violation.

Petitioner is not being punished twice for his offense simply because it results in two numbers on his scoresheet -- any more

¹In fact, the Legislature had created just such an exception for firearms in another context. The statute requiring the reclassification of offenses involving a firearm specifically excludes offenses in which the use of a firearm is an essential element. §775.087(1), Fla. Stat. (1995).

than a person who commits an offense inherently involving victim injury (such as manslaughter) is punished twice because that crime results in "level" points plus "extra" victim injury points.

The opinion of the district court follows the clear dictates of the statute. See also, e.g., Smith v. State, 683 So.2d 577 (Fla. 5th DCA 1996), rev. dismissed, 691 So.2d 1081 (Fla. 1997); State v. Davidson, 666 So.2d 941 (Fla. 2d DCA 1995); Gardner v. State, 661 So.2d 1274, 1275 (Fla. 5th DCA 1995).

While the Fourth District Court of Appeal has reached a decision contrary to the Fifth District's decision below, that court's opinion contains no reasoning and ignores the clear, unambiguous language of the statute and rule delineating the firearm points requirement. See, Galloway v. State, 680 So.2d 616, 617 (Fla. 4th DCA 1996). The rule does not contain a requirement that the firearm offense be related to the commission of an additional substantive offense, as Galloway seems to require, nor is there an exception for crimes in which possession of a firearm is an essential element.

It is a "fundamental principle of statutory construction that where the language of a statute is plain and unambiguous there is no occasion for judicial interpretation." Pardo v. State, 596 So.2d 665, 667 (Fla. 1992). The statute in the present case is clear and unambiguous, and the Legislature should be held to have meant that which it has clearly expressed.

While Petitioner may question the wisdom of the scoring for his offense, that opinion should be expressed to the Legislature, not to this Court. See, Baker v. State, 636 So.2d 1342, 1343 (Fla. 1994) ("The proper remedy for a harsh law will not be found through construction or interpretation; it rests only in amendment or repeal."); Forsythe v. Longboat Key Beach Erosion Control Dist., 604 So.2d 452, 454 (Fla. 1992) (Where a statue is unambiguous, courts have no power to "evade its operation by forced and unreasonable construction").

The clear and unambiguous statutory language was properly applied by the district court and the court's decision should be approved.

CONCLUSION

Based on the arguments and authorities presented herein, Respondent requests this honorable Court affirm the decision of the district court in all respects.